**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 18-0825**

**STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,**

vs.

**BENJAMIN G. TRANE,
Defendant-Appellant.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR LEE COUNTY (SOUTH),
HONORABLE MARK KRUSE**

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Alfredo Parrish
Adam Witosky
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn
Boles Gribble Gentry
Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: aparrish@parrishlaw.com
awitosky@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

Sheryl Soich
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY
GENERAL
Hoover State Office Building,
2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Telephone: (515) 281-3648
Facsimile: (515) 281-8894

Statement of Issues

I. The trial court violated Rule 2.24 when it refused to consider Trane’s ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims in the posttrial proceeding of this case.

Brakke v. Iowa Dep’t of Nat. Res., 897 N.W.2d 522 (Iowa 2017)

Dolphin Res. Coop., Inc. v. Iowa City Bd. of Review, 863 N.W.2d 644 (Iowa 2015)

Mall Real Estate, L.L.C. v. City of Hamburg, 818 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 2012)

Roth v. Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Soc., 886 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2016)

Simmons v. State Pub. Def., 791 N.W.2d 69 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Brodene, 493 N.W.2d 793 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Dahl, 874 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Hoyman, 863 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Kendall, 167 N.W.2d 909 (Iowa 1969)

State v. Pickett, 671 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Reeves, 670 N.W.2d 199 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Wesson, 149 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 1967)

State v. Williams, 207 N.W.2d 98 (Iowa 1973)

White v. Walstrom, 118 N.W.2d 578 (Iowa 1962)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. art. I, § 6

Iowa Code § 4.6(1), (5)

Iowa Code § 822.3

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)

Any, Merriam-Webster’s Online Dictionary,

<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/any> (last available July 13, 2018)

II. Trane was denied a fair trial because of trial counsel’s failure to sever Counts I & II from Count III.

Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975)

Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44 (1987)

State v. Bair, 362 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Belieu, 288 N.W.2d 895 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Boyd, 533 P.2d 795 (Or. 1975)

State v. Brown, No. 02–0086, 2003 WL 1967828 (Iowa Ct. App. April 30, 2003)
State v. Castaneda, 621 N.W.2d 435 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Clark, 814 N.W.2d 551 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Delaney, 526 N.W.2d 170 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Dicks, 473 N.W.2d 210 (Iowa Ct. App. 1991)
State v. Elston, 735 N.W.2d 196 (Iowa 2007)
State v. Geier, 484 N.W.2d 167 (Iowa 1992)
State v. Lopez, 633 N.W.2d 774 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Marvin, 197 Iowa 443, 197 N.W. 315 (1924)
State v. Nicoletto, 845 N.W.2d 421 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Oetken, 613 N.W.2d 679 (Iowa 2000)
State v. Owens, 635 N.W.2d 478 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Plaster, 424 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 1988)
State v. Robinson, 506 N.W.2d 769 (Iowa 1993)
State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2013)
State v. Smith, 576 N.W.2d 634 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998)
State v. Winters, 690 N.W.2d 903 (Iowa 2005)
State v. Wright, 191 N.W.2d 638 (Iowa 1971)
Iowa Code § 709.15
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.6(1)

III. K.S. had lodged multiple false claims of abuse, and the trial court abused its discretion by excluding those claims from evidence.

Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683 (1986)
Gilmore v. Taylor, 508 U.S. 333 (1993)
Grissom v. State, 572 N.W.2d 183 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)
Harrington v. State, 659 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa 2003)
Millam v. State, 745 N.W.2d 719 (Iowa 2008)
State v. Alberts, 722 N.W.2d 402 (Iowa 2006)
State v. Baker, 679 N.W.2d 7 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Fox, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)
State v. Mahoney, 515 N.W.2d 47 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Orte, 541 N.W.2d 895 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)
State v. Taylor, 881 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Winters, 690 N.W.2d 903 (Iowa 2005)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.412
Due Diligence, *Black's Law Dictionary* 208 (3d Pocket Ed. 2006)

IV. Improper vouching testimony was admitted, without objection by trial counsel, regarding the alleged victim's credibility.

Bowman v. State, 710 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 2006)
People v. Beckley, 456 N.W.2d 391 (Mich. 1990)
State v. Brotherton, 384 N.W.2d 375 (Iowa 1986)
State v. Brown, 856 N.W.2d 685 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Dudley, 856 N.W.2d 668 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Martens, 521 N.W.2d 768 (Iowa Ct.App.1994)
State v. Myers, 382 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 1986)
State v. Jaquez, 856 N.W.2d 663 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Kinsel, 545 N.W.2d 885 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)
State v. Payton, 481 N.W.2d 325 (Iowa 1992)
State v. Pitsenbarger, No. 14–0060, 2015 WL 1815989 (Iowa Ct. App. April 22, 2015)
State v. Tjernagel, No. 15–1519, 2017 WL 108291 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2017)
State v. Tracy, 482 N.W.2d 675 (Iowa 1992)
State v. Wilkins, 693 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 2005)
Iowa R. Evid. 5.701
Iowa R. Evid. 5.801
Iowa R. Evid. 5.802
CNN Library, *Boston Marathon Terror Attack Fast Facts* (<https://www.cnn.com/2013/06/03/us/boston-marathon-terror-attack-fast-facts/index.html>, accessed Aug. 8, 2018)
Maggie Astor, *Gymnastics Doctor Who Abused Patients Gets 60 Years for Child Pornography*, N.Y. Times, December 7, 2017 (<https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/07/sports/larry-nassar-sentence-gymnastics.html>, accessed Aug. 8, 2018)

V. Trane is entitled to a new trial because the State cannot prove a single count of child endangerment using multiple alleged victims.

Burmac Metal Finishing Co. v. W. Bend Mut. Ins. Co., 825 N.E.2d 1246 (Ill. App. 2005)

Clinton Phys. Therapy Servs. v. John Deere Health Care, Inc.,
714 N.W.2d 603 (Iowa 2006)

Employers' Mut. Liab. Ins. Co. v. Tollefsen, 263 N.W. 376
(Wisc. 1935)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Harris, 891 N.W.2d 182 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Hickman, 576 N.W.2d 364 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Kidd, 562 N.W.2d 764 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Millsap, 704 N.W.2d 426 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Richardson, 890 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Ross, 845 N.W.2d 692 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Schlitter, 881 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Sloan, 203 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 1972)

State v. Smith, 184 P.2d 301 (N.M. 1947)

State v. Spates, 779 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Tyler, 873 N.W.2d 741 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Velez, 829 N.W.2d 572 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa Code § 707.1

Iowa Code § 708.4

Iowa Code § 708.6

Iowa Code § 714.1(6)

Iowa Code § 726.6

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

Iowa R. Evid. 5.404(b)

Bryan A. Garner, *A Dictionary of Modern Legal Usage* (2d ed.
1995)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instructions 2610.1
(updated through June 2017)

Webster's Third New International Dictionary (1993)

VI. The verdicts are not supported by substantial evidence; Trane's convictions violate the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause.

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)

State v. Smith, 508 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa Ct.App. 1993)

Iowa Code § 709.11

Iowa Code § 709.15

Iowa Code § 726.6

Routing Statement

This appeal presents a threshold issue of first impression: whether a defendant may raise a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel at the new-trial phase of a criminal case. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). This appeal presents a second issue of first impression: whether the State can convict a defendant of *one* count of child endangerment using evidence related to *two* children, using an “and/or” theory. *Id.* A third issue presents a substantial question related to a defendant’s right to speedy trial pitted against 21st-century discovery, in which thousands of electronic documents are retained and withheld by the State in advance of trial. *Id.* r. 6.1101(2)(f). When discovery is withheld, Mr. Trane asks this Court to find good cause to file an otherwise untimely motion as to the admissibility of evidence at trial.

Statement of the Case

On September 18, 2017, the Appellant, Mr. Benjamin Trane, was charged by Trial Information with Third-Degree Sexual Abuse, a class “C” felony in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1 and 709.4(1)(a) (Count I); Sexual Exploitation by a Counselor, a class “D” felony in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.15(1), 709.15(2)(a)(1), and 709.15(4)(a) (Count II); and Child Endangerment, an aggravated misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code

sections 726.6(1)(a) and 726.6(7). (App. 5). Trane entered a plea of not guilty on September 28 and demanded a speedy trial. (App. 8).

Trial was held December 12–15 and 18–22, 2017. Trane was found guilty of the lesser-included offense of Assault with Intent to Commit Sexual Abuse on Count I, Sexual Exploitation by a Counselor on Count II, and Child Endangerment on Count III. Trane filed a motion for a new trial, which was denied. (App. 45; App. 75, 5/9/2018 Supp.Mtn.forNewTrial). Trane appeals. (App. 83).

Statement of the Facts

I. Factual Background.

A. Founding of Midwest Academy. Trane owned and supervised a therapeutic boarding school in Keokuk, Iowa, called Midwest Academy. Born and raised in Utah, Trane was always passionate about helping troubled youth. (TT7 168:14–20; 169:14–16; 169:20–170:1). Trane recognized the Midwest had very few therapeutic treatment options for teenagers in need of rehabilitation and care to address mental health concerns. (TT7 170:15–17). After investigating several cities, including Keokuk, Trane purchased an old county building and moved his wife and five children to Iowa. (TT7 168:14–20; 169:20–170:1; 173:1–7). Trane was dedicated to Midwest Academy and

moved “on campus” in the winter of 2002. Midwest Academy opened shortly thereafter in June 2003. (TT7 182:1–7; 184:6–8).

Midwest Academy saw tremendous growth and success over the next decade. The school was unlike private, military, or residential schools because it included a blend of educational, character-building, and therapeutic programming for children with severe behavioral or disciplinary issues. (TT7 177:2–22). Trane initially hired twelve staff members to serve the students. (TT7 185:12–16; 186:2–3). The school grew quickly, and within months, Midwest Academy was serving at least 50 students. (TT7 187:16–17). Trane hired an academics director, a program director, and clinical director, along with dozens of staff members. (TT7 204:25–205:4). “Family representatives” would act as a liaison between a student and their parents regarding progress at the school. (TT7 47:17–21).

Enrollment grew to as many as 300 students, with several hundred staff. (TT7 194:17–19). Eventually, enrollment balanced out to approximately 100 students at a time. (TT7 195:1–5). After several leadership changes, Trane became the sole owner of Midwest Academy. (TT7 191:9–15; 193:3–5).

The typical student at Midwest Academy had experienced past academic struggles, a troubled home life, relationship issues, dishonesty issues, mental health issues, drug abuse, emotional stress, or high-risk sexual

activity. (TT7 195:21–196:17). Students were commonly referred by parents or grandparents. (TT7 196:23–24). An admissions coordinator at the school screened students through an extensive initial interview and application process. (TT7 195:11–15). Once admitted, treatment would take anywhere between ten and twenty-four months, depending on the number of issues involved and the student’s progress. (TT7 245:13–246:11).

Success at Midwest Academy was founded on its rigorous course load and strict campus rules. (TT7 230:10–12). The school used a points-based “level” disciplinary system for rule violations: the better a student’s behavior, the greater amount of points and higher “level” of certain earned privileges, such as phone calls or off-campus field trips. (TT7 228:10–15; 231:11–18). No staff member could be alone with a single student. (TT3 187:2–5). The school also used “out of school suspension rooms,” or “OSS rooms,” for students with severe behavioral issues.¹ (TT7 234:6–10). OSS rooms were designed for single students for up to twenty-four hours at a time, with reasonable breaks and meals, and constant supervision. (TT7 234:6–10; 236:5–7; 240:5–241:20). The OSS rooms were a “last-ditch effort” at the school. (TT2 287:16–17). Students were placed in OSS rooms for significant

¹Students placed in an OSS room would sometimes punch the walls so hard they would break a wrist, or kick things and break toes. (TT7 235:5–17).

cause, such as constant distractions in the classroom or for physically attacking staff. (TT7 56:8–12).

Trane engaged the students in a variety of exercises as part of treatment at Midwest, including a body-image exercise aimed to help the female students overcome body issues and build positive self-esteem. (TT7 266:15–270:7). Staff administered surveys, on topics including drugs, anger-management, divorce, or sex, to gather on information on how to best educate the students. (TT7 278:11–15). If students exhibited good behavior, Trane or other staff members would take the students to a shop at the mall for clothes or jewelry. (TT7 288:3–290:2).

B. A.H. and B.V. Among the hundreds of children admitted to Midwest Academy, A.H. and B.V. both entered the school in 2014. (TT2 281:6–7; TT3 148:4–5).

A.H., who did not testify at trial, entered Midwest Academy in 2014 at twelve years old. (TT7 244:2–4). A.H.’s parents observed behavioral issues as early as second grade, and A.H. was later diagnosed with anxiety, depression, and Oppositional Defiant Disorder. (TT2 281:17–282:3). Once A.H. entered junior high, he began to act out in class, became violent, and began to self-harm. (TT2 282:8–14; 284:4–6). A.H.’s parents admitted him to a psychiatric hospital, which only led him to become more defiant and

disrespectful. (TT2 284:7–19). A.H.’s parents turned to Midwest Academy, which came recommended by A.H.’s psychiatrist. (TT2 285:15–19).

A.H. was placed in OSS almost daily for being defiant, causing distractions in classrooms, and cursing. (TT2 293:10–15). A.H. was instructed to sit with his legs straight for hours, participate in individual counseling, and write 1,000-word essays. (TT2 294:4–23; TT7 252:8–15). OSS time was often unsuccessful, as A.H. would loudly sing in the OSS room, punch himself, and write on the walls with his own blood. (TT2 295:5–8). A.H. tried to hang himself with his clothing, urinated in the room, and threw his food at the supervision cameras. (TT2 295:9–25).² A.H. consequently spent days in the OSS rooms. (TT2 296:25–297:1).

B.V., who entered Midwest Academy several months after A.H., was also twelve years old at the time. (TT3 118:9–9). B.V. was diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and bipolar disorder, and had engaged in assaultive behavior at school, which led his mother to consider Midwest Academy. (TT3 118:13–16; 119:19–20; 120:7–11). B.V. was initially denied because of his age and immaturity; however, after pleading from his mother, B.V. was admitted on a trial basis. (TT7 244:16–25).

²At trial, Trane explained that staff would begin a process to transfer the student to a psychiatric facility or mental institution if the student continued such extreme behavior. (TT7 258:16–22).

B.V. was physically aggressive at Midwest Academy when he did not get his way. (TT7 249:20–23). As with A.H., B.V.’s disregard for the rules often left him in an OSS room. (TT7 256:21–22). B.V. defecated and urinated in the room and became extremely aggressive with other students. (TT7 256:22–25). In mid-February 2015, Midwest Academy began preparing documentation to have B.V. admitted into a mental institution or residential treatment center. (TT7 257:15–21). B.V. told counselors he did not want to leave the OSS rooms because he did not want to go to school. (TT4 278:1–8). Staff continued to accommodate B.V.’s academics when he was in the OSS room. (TT7 259:12–17).

In March 2015, the Iowa Department of Human Services came to Midwest Academy and took out several children, including A.H. and B.V. (TT4 274:9–275:2). Both A.H.’s and B.V.’s parents were notified. (TT2 299:8–14; TT3 136:17–21). B.V.’s mother removed him from Midwest Academy on March 30, 2015. (TT3 139:3–10). A.H.’s parents made the decision to leave A.H. at Midwest Academy for another month, when they received another phone call from DHS. (TT2 303:23–25). At that point, A.H. was also removed from the Academy. (TT2 281:10–12).

C. K.S. K.S., a female student, came to Midwest Academy when she was sixteen years old. (TT3 160:19–22). Prior to entering Midwest Academy

K.S. had a troubled family environment. K.S. had bad experiences with DHS when she was younger and was placed in the foster-care system in Oregon and California. (TT3 159:12–23; 261:21–24). She lived with her grandparents in Kansas until she was eight years old. (TT3 159:12–23). K.S. was then adopted by her biological aunt and lived in Wisconsin. (TT3 159:3–6; 159:24–160:1). For the next several years, she was a runaway. (TT3 161:6–9). K.S. was eventually dropped off at Midwest Academy, by strangers, in January 2015. (TT3 161:11–13).

K.S. followed the rules at Midwest Academy and quickly began “leveling up” due to good behavior. (TT3 166:8–14). She earned more responsibility and began supervising other students who did not progress. (TT3 174:19–175:5). She became eligible to make phone calls and received one-on-one counseling sessions with staff. (TT3 176:1–18). Still, K.S. became frustrated or stressed out at times and asked to go to the OSS room on at least two occasions. (TT3 178:18–179:6).

In the Spring of 2015, “some statements were made [by K.S.] concerning foster care and [K.S.’s] parents that forced [Trane] to get involved.” (TT7 295:20–22). K.S. was referred to the Child Protective Center because of the statements. (TT7 296:18–25). Trane began paying K.S. more attention and gathered information for follow-up on the statements. (TT7

296:8–13; TT3 185:8–24). Trane visited with K.S. about her family life and what she wanted to accomplish after her time at Midwest Academy. (TT7 304:23–305:12). In August 2015, a senior staff member left the school and Trane became “family rep” for K.S. and another student, M.B.G. (TT7 303:17–23). K.S. made clear she did not want to live with her adoptive parents after she left the Academy. She wanted to live with her biological sister. (TT7 305:25–306:7). She also mentioned living with her biological parents or grandfather. (TT7 305:19–22).

In November 2015, Trane began arranging for an off-campus visit for K.S., as her family representative, with K.S.’s biological parents, her sister, and her grandfather around Thanksgiving. (TT7 324:2–12). Although K.S. disliked her adoptive parents, the off-campus visit had to be approved through them as legal guardians. (TT7 325:3–8). K.S. then had second thoughts about inviting her biological parents and grandfather, and instead only wanted her sister visit over Thanksgiving and travel off campus. (TT7 326:16–20). Ultimately, though, K.S.’s adoptive mother reneged and would not authorize K.S. to travel off campus with anyone. (TT7 327:4–8).

K.S. became “very angry” with Trane and told him to cancel the entire Thanksgiving visit. (TT7 328:15; 327:21–24). In Trane’s words, “[K.S.]’s anger wasn’t like an explosive anger. It was more of like an inner rage.” (TT7

328:7–9). K.S. began venting her anger, which culminated in a report by staff for suicidal behavior on November 23, 2015. (TT7 154:24–155:12; 329:3–11; 331:18–20).

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