IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 18-0825

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

BENJAMIN G. TRANE,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR LEE COUNTY (SOUTH)  
THE HONORABLE MARK KRUSE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**SHERYL SOICH**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[sherri.soich@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:sherri.soich@ag.iowa.gov)

DENISE A. TIMMINS  
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

Most postconviction relief proceedings involve allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, and numerous rules and procedures are in place to facilitate the orderly progression of those claims. *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 822.2 (listing grounds for relief, including claim



that the conviction was obtained in violation of the state or federal constitution); Iowa Code § 822.3 (detailing method of filing application and setting forth the three-year statute of limitations and exception for grounds of law or fact that could not have been raised earlier); Iowa Code § 822.4 (explaining contents of applications); Iowa Code § 822.5 (discussing payment of costs); Iowa Code § 822.6 (providing for a dismissal or summary disposition on the pleadings under certain circumstances); Iowa Code § 822.7 (noting “[a]ll rules and statutes applicable in civil proceedings including pretrial and discovery procedures are available to the parties” and providing that the postconviction court “may receive proof of affidavits, depositions, oral testimony, or other evidence, and may order the applicant brought before it for the hearing); Iowa Code § 822.8 (discussing waiver and *res judicata* principles).

The provisions of Chapter 822 are critical to a fair resolution of ineffective assistance claims for all involved, including the applicant and the lawyer alleged to be ineffective; thus, the appellate courts usually decline to decide ineffective assistance claims on direct appeal. Resolution of these claims is generally reserved for postconviction review because of the seriousness of the claim to

counsel, as well as the fairness to the proceedings in which the ineffective assistance is alleged to have occurred. *See State v. Atley*, 564 N.W.2d 817, 833 (Iowa 1997); *Kellogg v. State*, 288 N.W.2d 561, 563 (Iowa 1980). “Even a lawyer is entitled to his day in court, especially when his professional reputation is impugned.” *State v. Stewart*, 691 N.W.2d 747, 750 (Iowa Ct. App. 2004) (citing *State v. Coil*, 264 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1978)).<sup>4</sup>

Moreover, the applicant is better served by proceeding under Chapter 822 because of discovery tools and other rights made available to him. In contrast, attempting to morph a motion or sentencing hearing into a full-blown trial to litigate hotly contested issues without any structural overlay benefits no one. *See Humphrey*

---

<sup>4</sup> True, Iowa appellate courts have considered ineffective assistance claims raised in motions for new trial. *See, e.g., State v. Tjernagel*, No. 15-1519, 2017 WL 108291, at \*1, 6-8 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2017). However, the State is unaware of a case in which an Iowa appellate court has ruled, over the State’s argument to the contrary, that a new trial motion is an appropriate procedural vehicle to raise an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Cf. State v. Jacobs*, No. 01-0826, 2002 WL 1428785, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. July 3, 2002) (preserving for postconviction claims of ineffective assistance raised in a motion for new trial that the trial court refused to hear after it determined that “allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel would more properly be dealt with on appeal or... in postconviction proceedings”).

*v. Commonwealth*, 962 S.W.2d 870, 872 (Ky. 1998) (noting that while defendants are in Kentucky permitted to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims in a motion for new trial, the claims “are best suited to collateral attack proceedings, after the direct appeal is over, and in the trial court where a proper record can be made” because of abbreviated post-trial time frames and ethical concerns arising from a lawyer asserting his own ineffectiveness). And contrary to Trane’s suggestion, a defendant need not wait years to file a postconviction application; he can file it immediately.

As the prosecutor noted, a motion for new trial hearing is simply not the proper vehicle to litigate complex ineffective assistance claims:

What has happened today is exactly why ineffective assistance of counsel is dealt with at a trial, at a PCR trial, because so much has been thrown out there, and persons were not able to respond to it. The State wasn't aware of what was going to be presented. Everything that has been put out there in regards to the ineffective assistance should be left for that and not addressed here.

*See Sent.* p. 199, L10-19.

This court should conclude that the trial court properly restricted Trane’s efforts to bypass the orderly presentation of his ineffective

assistance claims under Chapter 822. His claim to the contrary should be rejected.

**II. Counsel Was Effective Despite Declining to Move to Sever the Sexual Abuse and Sexual Exploitation By a Counselor or Therapist Counts From a Count of Child Endangerment.**

**Scope of Review.**

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are reviewed *de novo*.

*Everett v. State*, 789 N.W.2d 151, 155 (Iowa 2010).

**Preservation of Error.**

Claims of ineffective assistance are not subject to ordinary concepts of error preservation. *State v. Rodriguez*, 804 N.W.2d 844, 848 (Iowa 2011).

**Merits.**

Trane next contends that counsel was constitutionally deficient in failing to move to sever the counts involving sexual conduct from the child endangerment count. To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim involving complaints of specific acts or omissions, the defendant must show that “(1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice resulted therefrom.” *State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W.2d 260, 266-67 (Iowa 2010). Ultimately, the test of ineffective assistance of counsel rests on whether counsel’s performance was

reasonably effective; the defendant must show that the performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness such that his lawyer was not functioning as “counsel” as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984).

Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance is highly deferential, and this court indulges in a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. A defendant is not entitled to perfect representation, but rather only that which is within the range of normal competency. *See State v. Artzer*, 609 N.W.2d 526, 531 (Iowa 2000). “Improvident trial strategy, miscalculated tactics, [or] mistakes in judgment do not necessarily amount to ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Osborn v. State*, 573 N.W.2d 917, 922 (Iowa 2008). Counsel here was effective despite not moving to sever the charges.

Iowa has a liberal rule allowing joinder of charges for trial.

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.6(1) provides:

Two or more indictable public offenses which arise from the same transaction or occurrence or from two or more transactions or occurrences constituting parts of a common

scheme or plan, when alleged and prosecuted contemporaneously, shall be alleged and prosecuted as separate counts in a single complaint, information or indictment, unless, for good cause shown, the trial court in its discretion determines otherwise.

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.6(1). Because the rule promotes judicial economy, the accused bears the burden to prove prejudice from joinder of charges for trial. *State v. Delaney*, 526 N.W.2d 170, 174 (Iowa 1994). Here, Trane cannot establish that severance would have been appropriate or that he was prejudiced by his lawyer's decision regarding joinder.

The lynchpin of the joinder issue is whether the two charges are part of a "common scheme or plan." *State v. Elston*, 735 N.W.2d 196, 198-99 (Iowa 2007); *State v. Oetken*, 613 N.W.2d 679, 689 (Iowa 2000). The "common scheme" must be more than the commission of two similar crimes by the same person. *Oetken*, 613 N.W.2d at 679. The two offenses must have a "common link," which can be "a single or continuing motive." Relevant factors in deciphering the single or continuing motive include "intent, modus operandi, and the temporal and geographic proximity of the crimes." *Id.*

Iowa appellate courts have found a common scheme or plan in a variety of circumstances. *See Oetken*, 613 N.W.2d at 689 ("Oetken

committed two burglaries, on two consecutive days, using similar methods of operation – *i.e.*, he traveled through the rural countryside in search of homes that were unoccupied during traditional work hours, he knocked to ascertain the abodes were indeed vacant, broke and entered the premises through the rear doors, and proceeded to steal small portable objects such as TVs, VCRs, and guns. This constitutes sufficient evidence of a common scheme or plan with a single continuing motive.”); *State v. Lam*, 391 N.W.2d 245, 250 (Iowa 1986) (“The State’s evidence is sufficient to support a finding that the two offenses charged in the amended information were parts of a common scheme or plan to burglarize apartments during normal working hours. It is readily inferable that both offenses were products of a single and continuing motive for obtaining small portable objects from apartments for money.”); *Delaney*, 526 N.W.2d at 175 (the eight fraudulent loan transactions charged in the trial information covered an eleven month period; the money was obtained “by similar bewitching methods,” accompanied by “a continuing self-indulgent motive,” and the victims all lived in the same community).

While the crimes of sexual abuse and sexual exploitation are distinct from child endangerment, they occurred in close temporal and geographic proximity. A.H. and K.S. attended Midwest Academy at the same time. Vol. II 281, L6-12; Vol. III 160, L18-20. A.H.'s time in O.S.S. spanned his entire tenure at the academy while K.S. was groomed or subjected to sexual conduct much of the time she was there, rendering the events close in time. *See Elston*, 735 N.W.2d at 197, 199 (20-month scheme did not defeat propriety of joinder). The crimes all occurred at Midwest Academy.

Trane counters that good cause existed to sever the charges. Defendant's Brief, 43. Good cause arises when prejudice from joinder outweighs the State's interest in judicial economy. *Elston*, 735 N.W.2d at 199 (citing *Oetken*, 613 N.W.2d at 689). Here, the State had a strong interest in judicial economy. Trane's trial lasted eight days and spanned almost 2,500 transcript pages. Many witnesses testified to background matters that applied to all charges or had pertinent information proving multiple counts. K.S., Rachel Pate, Cheyenne Jerred, Elizabeth Webster, D.C.I. Agent Joe Lestina, Jennifer Richardson, and F.B.I Special Agent Thomas Pearson all fit that description. *See, e.g.*, Vol. III 170, L3-21, 179, L10-23, 285, L6 –



288, L24; Vol. V 8, L19 – 9, L17, 18, L13 – 19, L4. In addition, almost every witness explained the structure of Midwest Academy, its myriad rules and its culture, and Trane's position of authority – all circumstances enabling his crimes.

These same facts go to Trane's intent and *modus operandi*. See *Elston*, 735 N.W.2d at 199 (reasoning defendant's intent to victimize children to satisfy his sexual desires showed similar intent supporting joinder of two sex-related charges). For instance, former student Lauren Synder testified that Trane was "extremely God-like" at Midwest Academy. Vol. III 288, L8 – 289, L16. She explained how he could give and take away points and privileges at will. Vol. III 288, L8 – 289, L16. She also explained how traumatic O.S.S. was, noting that once she was released from "the box" she was ready to comply with any demand to avoid being sent back. Vol. III 285, L16 – 287, L12. The evidence pertaining to the child endangerment charge – demonstrating the draconian measures Midwest Academy used to control its students – was also critical to understanding K.S.'s testimony, including the reason she seemingly did not resist Ben Trane, and her inability to give any meaningful consent under the circumstances of this extreme power differential. See generally *State*

*v. Meyers*, N.W.2d 132, 140-47 (Iowa 2011) (concluding that the teenage victim’s seemingly voluntary sexual and “romantic” relationship with her stepfather was against her will, given her vulnerable psychological state).

Finally, in any event, Trane cannot establish prejudice. The court instructed the jury: “You must determine whether the defendant is guilty or not guilty separately on each count.” Instruction 13; App. --. This instruction ensured that the jury would consider each charge independently. *State v. Owens*, 635 N.W.2d 478, 483 (Iowa 2001) (“[W]e presume the jury follows the instruction[s]...”). And all the charges involved harming children, so juror sympathy on one child-victim charge would not taint resolution of the other charges. *Cf. Elston*, 735 N.W.2d at 197 (eighteen counts of sexual exploitation of a minor and one count of indecent contact with a child tried together). Trane argues that it was impossible for the jury to hear evidence of one charge without that same evidence being used to find him guilty of other charges. Defendant’s Brief, 47. While Trane may not believe jurors can compartmentalize, his jury did just that. Trane was acquitted of third-degree sexual abuse and convicted only of assault with intent to commit sexual abuse. Under

those circumstances, he cannot demonstrate that the jury failed to individually consider his guilt or innocence on each count. His ineffective assistance claim regarding severance should be rejected.

**III. The Trial Court Properly Concluded That Trane’s Request to Present Alleged Prior False Claims of Sexual Abuse was Untimely and Without Merit When Urged on the First Day of Trial.**

**Standard of Review.**

This court reviews rulings on the admissibility of evidence offered pursuant to Rule 5.412 for an abuse of the trial court’s discretion. *State v. Alberts*, 722 N.W.2d 402, 407-08 (Iowa 2006).

**Preservation of Error.**

Trane preserved error to the extent that he presented a prior false claim argument below. *See* Rule 5.412 Motion; App. 23-24. As discussed below, however, Trane’s motion was untimely and not accompanied by a written offer of proof.

**Merits.**

Trane’s third claim involves Iowa’s rape shield law, Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.412. Because he failed to comply with the procedural requirements of the rule, the court properly refused to allow Trane to present evidence of allegedly false prior claims made by the victim,

K.S. The State does not dispute that, upon a proper showing – including notice and proof of falsity by a preponderance of the evidence – a false prior allegation of sexual abuse is admissible to attack the credibility of a victim. Trane did not make a proper showing here because his motion was untimely and was not accompanied by a written offer of proof. He also failed to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the prior allegation was false.

**A. Timeliness.**

Rule 5.412 explicitly sets forth the mechanism by which a defendant may seek to introduce evidence of arguably false prior allegations of sexual abuse. Iowa R. Evid. 5.412(c)(1); *see Alberts*, 722 N.W.2d at 410 (noting these requirements also “apply to allegedly false claims of sexual conduct because they are covered by the rape-shield law unless proven to be false”). Here, Trane failed to comply with the requirements of Rule 5.412(c).

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